Old Dominion University ODU Digital Commons

CCPO Publications

Center for Coastal Physical Oceanography

2016

Developing Priority Variables ("ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables" — eEOVs) for Observing Dynamics and Change in Southern Ocean Ecosystems

Andrew J. Constable

Daniel P. Costa

Oscar Schofield

Louise Newman

Edward R. Urban Jr.

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/ccpo_pubs

🔮 Part of the Geology Commons, Marine Biology Commons, and the Oceanography Commons

Original Publication Citation

Constable, A. J., Costa, D. P., Schofield, O., Newman, L., Urban Jr, E. R., Fulton, E. A., . . . Willis, Z. (2016). Developing priority variables ("ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables" – eEOVs) for observing dynamics and change in Southern Ocean ecosystems. *Journal of Marine Systems, 161*, 26-41. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2016.05.003

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Center for Coastal Physical Oceanography at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in CCPO Publications by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

Authors

Andrew J. Constable, Daniel P. Costa, Oscar Schofield, Louise Newman, Edward R. Urban Jr., Elizabeth A. Fulton, Jessica Melbourne-Thomas, Tosca Ballerini, Philip W. Boyd, Angelika Brandt, and Eileen E. Hofmann



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Marine Systems



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jmarsys

Developing priority variables ("ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables" — eEOVs) for observing dynamics and change in Southern Ocean ecosystems

CrossMark

Andrew J. Constable ^{a,b,*}, Daniel P. Costa ^c, Oscar Schofield ^d, Louise Newman ^e, Edward R. Urban Jr. ^f, Elizabeth A. Fulton ^{g,h}, Jessica Melbourne-Thomas ^{a,b}, Tosca Ballerini ⁱ, Philip W. Boyd ^{b,j}, Angelika Brandt ^k, Willaim K. de la Mare ^a, Martin Edwards ¹, Marc Eléaume ^m, Louise Emmerson ^{a,b}, Katja Fennel ⁿ, Sophie Fielding ^o, Huw Griffiths ^o, Julian Gutt ^p, Mark A. Hindell ^{b,j}, Eileen E. Hofmann ^q, Simon Jennings ^r, Hyoung Sul La ^s, Andrea McCurdy ^t, B. Greg Mitchell ^u, Tim Moltmann ^v, Monica Muelbert ^w, Eugene Murphy ^o, Anthony J. Press ^b, Ben Raymond ^{a,b,j}, Keith Reid ^x, Christian Reiss ^y, Jake Rice ^z, Ian Salter ^p, David C. Smith ^{g,h}, Sun Song ^{aa}, Colin Southwell ^{a,b}, Kerrie M. Swadling ^{b,j}, Anton Van de Putte ^{ab}, Zdenka Willis ^{ac}

^a Australian Antarctic Division, Channel Highway, Kingston, Tasmania 7050, Australia

^b Antarctic Climate and Ecosystems Cooperative Research Centre, Private Bag 80, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

^c Ecology & Evolutionary Biology, University of California Santa Cruz, CA 95060, USA

^d Center for Ocean Observing Leadership, 71 Dudley Road, Department of Marine and Coastal Sciences, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ 08901, USA

- e Southern Ocean Observing System International Project Office, c/-IMAS, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 129, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia
- ^f Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA
- ^g CSIRO Oceans and Atmosphere, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

^h Centre for Marine Socio-ecology, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia

- ¹ Mediterranean Institute of Oceanography, Université de Toulon, Aix-Marseille Université, CNRS/INSU, IRD, MIO, UM 110, La Garde Cedex 83957, France
- ^j Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 129, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia
- ^k Centre of Natural History (CeNaK), Zoological Museum, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King-Platz 3, 20146 Hamburg, Germany
- ¹ Sir Alister Hardy Foundation for Ocean Science, The Laboratory, Citadel Hill, Plymouth PL1 2PB, United Kingdom
- ^m Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Département Milieux et Peuplements Aquatiques, UMR 7208-BOREA MNHN-CNRS-UPMC-IRD, CP26, 57 rue Cuvier, 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France
- ⁿ Department of Oceanography, Dalhousie University, Oxford Street 1355, Halifax, NS B3H 4R2, Canada
- ° British Antarctic Survey, High Cross, Madingley Rd, Cambridge CB3 0ET, United Kingdom
- ^p Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Am Alten Hafen 26, D-27568 Bremerhaven, Germany
- ^q Center for Coastal Physical Oceanography, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA, USA
- ^r Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science, Lowestoft NR33 0HT, United Kingdom
- ^s Korea Polar Research Institute, 12 Gaetbeol-ro, Yeonsu-gu, Incheon 406-840, South Korea
- ^t Consortium for Ocean Leadership, 1201 New York Ave. NW, Washington, DC 20005, USA
- ^u Scripps Institution of Oceanography, University of California, San Diego, USA
- ^v Integrated Marine Observing System, University of Tasmania, Private Bag 110, Hobart, Tasmania 7001, Australia
- ^w Instituto de Oceanografia, Universidade Federal do Rio Grande (IO-FURG), Av. Itália, KM 8, Campus Carreiros, 96203-270, Rio Grande, RS, Brazil
- ^x CCAMLR Secretariat, PO Box 213, North Hobart 7002, Tasmania, Australia
- ^y NOAA Fisheries, Antarctic Ecosystem Research Division, 8901 La Jolla Shores Drive, La Jolla, CA 92037, USA
- ^z Department of Fisheries and Oceans, 200 Kent Street, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada
- ^{aa} Institute of Oceanology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, 7 Nanhai Road, Qingdao 266071, China
- ^{ab} BEDIC, OD Nature, Royal Belgian Institute for Natural Sciences, Vautierstraat 29, B-1000 Brussels, Belgium
- ^{ac} NOAA's National Ocean Service, N/MB6, SSMC4, 1305 East-West Hwy, Silver Spring, MD 20910, USA

* Corresponding author at: Australian Antarctic Division, Channel Highway, Kingston, Tasmania 7050, Australia.

E-mail addresses: andrew.constable@aad.gov.au (AJ. Constable), costa@ucsc.edu (D.P. Costa), oscar@marine.rutgers.edu (O. Schofield), newman@soos.aq (L. Newman), ed.urban@scor-int.org (E.R. Urban), beth.fulton@csiro.au (E.A. Fulton), jess.melbourne-thomas@aad.gov.au (J. Melbourne-Thomas), tosca.ballerini@mio.osupyhteas.fr (T. Ballerini), philip.boyd@utas.edu.au (P.W. Boyd), abrandt@zoologie.uni-hamburg.de (A. Brandt), bill.delamare@aad.gov.au (W.K. de la Mare), maed@sahfos.ac.uk (M. Edwards), marc.eleaume@mnhn.fr (M. Eléaume), louise.emmerson@aad.gov.au (L. Emmerson), katja.fennel@dal.ca (K. Fennel), sof@bas.ac.uk (S. Fielding), hjg@bas.ac.uk (H. Griffiths), julian.gutt@awi.de (J. Gutt), mark.hindell@utas.edu.au (M.A. Hindell), hofman@ccpo.odu.edu (E.E. Hofmann), simon.jennings@cefas.co.uk (S. Jennings), hsla@kopri.e.kr (H.S. La), amccurdy@oceanleadership.org (A. McCurdy), gmitchell@ucsd.edu (B.G. Mitchell), tim.moltmann@imos.org.au (T. Moltmann), monica.muelbert@furg.br (M. Muelbert), ejmu@bas.ac.uk (E. Murphy), tony.press@acerc.org.au (A.J. Press), ben.raymond@aad.gov.au (B. Raymond), keith.reid@ccamlr.org (K. Reid), christian.reiss@noaa.gov (C. Reiss), Jake.Rice@dfo-mpo.gc.ca (J. Rice), Ian.Salter@avi.de (I. Salter), david.c.smith@csino.au (D.C. Smith), sunsong@qdio.ac.cn (S. Song), colin.southwell@aad.gov.au (C. Southwell), kerrie.swadling@utas.edu.au (K.M. Swadling), antonarctica@gmail.com (A. Van de Putte), zdenkas.swillis@noaa.gov (Z. Willis).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmarsys.2016.05.003

0924-7963/© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 October 2015 Received in revised form 3 May 2016 Accepted 4 May 2016 Available online 10 May 2016

Keywords: Ocean observing Antarctica Southern Ocean Observing System Essential variables Ecosystem change Monitoring systems Ecosystem management Indicators

ABSTRACT

Reliable statements about variability and change in marine ecosystems and their underlying causes are needed to report on their status and to guide management. Here we use the Framework on Ocean Observing (FOO) to begin developing ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables (eEOVs) for the Southern Ocean Observing System (SOOS). An eEOV is a defined biological or ecological quantity, which is derived from field observations, and which contributes significantly to assessments of Southern Ocean ecosystems. Here, assessments are concerned with estimating status and trends in ecosystem properties, attribution of trends to causes, and predicting future trajectories. eEOVs should be feasible to collect at appropriate spatial and temporal scales and are useful to the extent that they contribute to direct estimation of trends and/or attribution, and/or development of ecological (statistical or simulation) models to support assessments. In this paper we outline the rationale, including establishing a set of criteria, for selecting eEOVs for the SOOS and develop a list of candidate eEOVs for further evaluation. Other than habitat variables, nine types of eEOVs for Southern Ocean taxa are identified within three classes: state (magnitude, genetic/species, size spectrum), predator-prey (diet, foraging range), and autecology (phenology, reproductive rate, individual growth rate, detritus). Most candidates for the suite of Southern Ocean taxa relate to state or diet. Candidate autecological eEOVs have not been developed other than for marine mammals and birds. We consider some of the spatial and temporal issues that will influence the adoption and use of eEOVs in an observing system in the Southern Ocean, noting that existing operations and platforms potentially provide coverage of the four main sectors of the region - the East and West Pacific, Atlantic and Indian. Lastly, we discuss the importance of simulation modelling in helping with the design of the observing system in the long term. Regional boundary: south of 30°S.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

term observations of many attributes of these ecosystems are often

lacking. This limits the capacity to report on changes in status, to identi-

fy key processes driving marine ecosystems, to judge the long-term ef-

fects of people on marine resources, food webs and biodiversity, to

determine sustainable levels of activities, such as fisheries, and to assess

Contents

1.	Introduction	27							
	1.1. What is an eEOV?	29							
2.	Choosing and implementing a set of essential variables	30							
3.	Candidate eEOVs for the Southern Ocean	33							
	3.1. Ecosystem properties of the Southern Ocean	33							
	3.2. Existing and emerging time-series of observations	36							
	3.3. Candidate eEOVs	37							
	3.4. Progressing mature eEOVs for the Southern Ocean Observing System	39							
4.	Concluding remarks	39							
Acknowledgements									
Refe	References								

1. Introduction

Assessments of status, variability and change in marine ecosystems are needed to inform management decisions for sustaining goods and services (see Table 1 for a glossary of terms used in this paper). Long-

Table 1

A glossary of terms used in this paper.

Term	Context
Change	Restricted in this paper to mean any difference in the status or function of a system that is of interest to society, policy-makers, managers and scientists
Status	The condition of an ecosystem property or the ecosystem as a whole. Measures of status can include mean, variability or other short and long-term aspects of an ecosystem's dynamics (e.g. seasonal cycles, decadal oscillations). Thus, status includes the relative abundances of components (habitats, taxa), the processes by which those components interact with other physical, chemical and biological components of the ecosystem and
	the subsequent dynamics and variability in the components.
Trend	A general tendency or direction of change over time-scales longer than a few years. Such changes may be in the mean and/or variability of status, such as the frequency of extreme events.
Step change	A relatively large change that occurs over a short time period.
Attribution	The process of determining and assigning the cause of a trend.
Future scenarios	Possible changes in ecosystem status and trends in the future.
Assessment	The quantification (including the process leading to that quantification) of (i) status of ecosystem properties and the ecosystem overall, (ii) trends and/or step changes in those properties, (iii) attribution of trends and step changes to causes, and (iv) likely future scenarios for the ecosystems.
Observation	A quantity directly measured in the field and from which an eEOV may be derived.
ecosystem Essential Ocean	The name has its origin in the Framework on Ocean Observing. An eEOV is a defined biological or ecological quantity which is derived from field
Variable (eEOV)	observations. It would be expected to contribute significantly to assessments and be feasible to collect at appropriate spatial and temporal scales.
	Its utility arises from its contribution to the roles: (i) direct estimation of status, trends and/or attribution, and/or (ii) development of ecological
	models (e.g. qualitative, statistical/empirical, dynamic mathematical models) to support assessments.
Indicators	Indicators are defined as variables, pointers or indices of a phenomenon.
Evaluation	To judge or calculate the importance or performance of candidate eEOV in relation to criteria and qualities for pilot and mature EOVs.

the risk of passing tipping points in the face of global changes to the oceans, and what action might be needed to stop this from occurring (IPCC, 2014; Kennicutt et al., 2014; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; UN, 2016).

Ecosystems are characterised by many connections between the physical and chemical environment, habitats, diversity and food webs. Bottom-up (from lower trophic levels), competitive, and top-down (from higher trophic levels) processes may interact to influence, directly or indirectly, each of these components, which are also affected by global and local human activities (Fig. 1). Nine general classes of ecosystem properties may be used to make statements about status and trends (or step changes) in the ecosystem and the consequences of those changes: habitat, diversity, spatial distribution of organisms, primary production, ecosystem structure, production, energy transfer, and regional and global human pressures (Table 2). Scientists are expected to be able to make such statements, including disentangling the underlying causes of variability and change in marine ecosystems. Without this support, policy-makers lack a scientific basis to adopt measures that may be effective in achieving sustainability of ocean uses and avoiding tipping points. A well-structured observing system is essential to delivering these statements.

Observing status and trends of the global ocean has a long history. During the 1980s and 1990s, the World Ocean Circulation Experiment (WOCE) established an essential set of observations, including their standard methods and ocean transects to meet regional sampling requirements (Siedler et al., 2001). These observations have been continued by the CLIVAR and GO-SHIP repeat hydrography programmes, and have facilitated estimates of physical and chemical change and enabled the attribution of their causes (e.g. IPCC, 2013).

The OceanObs'09 Conference brought together hundreds of scientists "to build a common vision for the provision of routine and sustained global information on the marine environment sufficient to meet society's needs for describing, understanding and forecasting marine variability (including physical, biogeochemical, ecosystems and living marine resources), weather, seasonal to decadal climate variability, climate change, sustainable management of living marine resources, and assessment of longer term trends" (http://www.oceanobs09.net). The Framework for Ocean Observing (FOO; Lindstrom et al., 2012), was developed as a result of the outcomes of this conference and was used to reorganise the Global Ocean Observing System and to develop other observing systems. Many oceanic and atmospheric variables have been identified for regular measuring and reporting and are known as *Essential Ocean Variables* (EOVs) or *Essential Climate Variables* (ECVs). The FOO also provides a process for establishing candidate EOVs and developing them through stages (conceptual, pilot, mature) until final adoption in an observing system.

The question of what variables need to be routinely observed to enable assessments of status and trends (or step changes) in biological components of ecosystems, attribution of causality and projection of scenarios of change for the future is now receiving attention (Table 3). The terminology adopted by the FOO has been extended to include ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables (eEOVs): biological and ecological variables selected for regular measurement (defined below and in the glossary of terms in Table 1). The breadth of biological variables that could be measured is vast due to the complexities of habitats, species and their interactions, making it challenging to identify specific biological variables to be used in an observing system. The challenge of maintaining a common set of variables increases with increasing spatial scale, particularly at greater than regional scales (Hayes et al., 2015). How can a "backbone" time-series of measurements be established and adopted by the international scientific community, upon which more specific measurements can be added or synthesised when needed?



Fig. 1. Illustration of the relationships between general components of the Southern Ocean marine ecosystem – Habitat, Diversity, Food Web and Human Pressures. Horizontal blue arrows indicate the connections, including feedbacks, between the components. For example, habitats are a potentially dynamic combination of physical, chemical and biological processes, such as biogenic reefs. Downward orange arrows show the effects of global and regional human pressures in the system. The food web can be considered as a number of trophic levels, each of which will be impacted by both bottom-up and top-down forces. The number of blue arrows indicates that changes in habitats, diversity and food webs may occur at any trophic level, potentially giving rise to both bottom-up and top-down effects in the food webs (modified from Constable et al., 2014). Ecosystem properties relating to these general components are described in Table 2.

General Ecosystem Properties that assist in addressing questions regarding status, trends, attribution and likely future scenarios for marine ecosystems.

	Ecosystem Property	Description	Examples of significant changes
Spatial arrangements of taxa	1. Habitat	The distribution of physical, chemical and biological attributes that, combined, influence the types and ecologies of taxa in the region. This includes biogenic habitats, such as reefs, and biological modification of the physical-chemical properties of an area.	Seasonal variability, ocean variability over years, disturbance by ice scour, biotic disturbances or other biologically mediated change, such as through bio-engineers, or by direct or indirect disturbance from human activities, such as dredging or fishing.
	2. Diversity	Diversity of species and genotypes, including species composition and functional diversity, which may occupy the different suites of habitats.	Adaptation and extinction may cause changes in diversity.
	3. Spatial Distribution of Organisms	Geographic and depth distributions of organisms that may affect the degree to which organisms overlap in space. It also includes the degree of connectivity of taxa across the region.	Range changes may occur as a result of trends in the distribution of habitats.
Food-web structure and function	4. Primary production	Production of organic material by photosynthetic and chemosynthetic autotrophs.	Changes in the taxonomic composition of autotrophs, such as shifts from large diatoms to smaller nanoplankton.
	5. Structure	Abundances of taxa in space and time, related to patchiness of the organisms, along with size structure of populations and functional groups, relationships between biota, and processes/responses that give rise to structure.	Change in relative abundances or feeding interactions of some species may lead to trophic cascades, or regime shifts.
	6. Production	Productivity of different levels of the food web in a region. This may include factors that affect productivity such as non-trophic interactions and disease.	Productivity of individual species may change as a result of changes in one or more of the other ecosystem properties.
	7. Energy Transfer	Efficiency in transferring/utilising energy in the food web, which will need to account for spatial and temporal overlap of consumers and resources, which in turn will be affected by habitat characteristics and behaviour. This relates to production.	Changes in the relative importance of different energy pathways, such as shifts from the krill-based food web to the copepod-fish food web.
Human pressures	8. Regional	Human activities directly interacting with one or more of the local ecosystem properties. Primary human pressures in the Southern Ocean are fisheries, tourism and pollution. Shipping is a secondary human pressure in this case.	Change can arise from shifts in social, economic, governmental priorities and regulations, or through advances in technology
	9. Global	Human activities distant from the local ecosystem but giving rise to local change.	The effects of climate change and ocean acidification

One role of eEOVs would be consistent with the role of indicators in ecosystem-based management (Garcia and Staples, 2000), which are used widely, including in a pressure-state-response framework (Fulton et al., 2005; Jennings, 2005; Rice and Rochet, 2005). In this case, eEOVs would be those variables that reliably indicate changes in state as a result of specific pressures from human activities. Often, these variables are intended to be directly useful to policy-makers and scientists, and for communicating change (e.g. Hayes et al., 2015). More than one eEOV will be required for many types of assessment of change.

A second role for eEOVs relates to the development of models (Table 1), although this has not received as much attention (but see Peters, 1991). Many types of models may be used in assessments of change, attribution of causality, and the consequences of change. Unless otherwise specified, we use the term 'model' to represent the variety of conceptual-qualitative, statistical-empirical, and dynamic mathematical models (for a review of the types of models and their uses see Fulton and Link, 2014). Dynamic models may be used for retrospective evaluation of the effectiveness of alternative management actions to achieve a range of socio-economic-ecological objectives in the face of unexpected events that have actually occurred. Further, dynamic models can be used to assess the likelihood of different ecosystem states, including past and future states. eEOVs enable scientists to control and validate the behaviour of models. For empirical models, eEOVs may include important covariates or other variables in an analysis. For dynamic models, eEOVs may include important state or process variables for fitting or validating models or as drivers of models. In this second role, eEOVs can be used to discriminate between alternative models, thereby enabling better assessments over time.

1.1. What is an eEOV?

There is a hierarchy in data from field observations (called 'subvariables' and 'supporting variables' in biogeochemical EOVs – Anon, 2014), to using algorithms to transform the data into quantities useful to ecologists (e.g., Chlorophyll *a* (Chl *a*) concentration from ocean colour, density of mesopelagic fish and krill from acoustic observations), to results of more complex statistical or dynamic models that are used to provide assessments of relevant ecological properties that would be useful to managers and policy-makers (Fig. 2).

In this paper, we treat eEOVs as defined biological or ecological quantities derived from field observations, rather than being a product of an assessment (as defined in Table 1). Their importance will be determined by how well they contribute to assessments of Southern Ocean ecosystems. eEOVs should be feasible to collect at meaningful spatial and temporal scales. Some eEOVs might be measurable by several different methods, or new or improved methods might emerge over time. The specification of an eEOV must provide standard requirements to be met to help ensure that the eEOVs can be compared in space and time. Importantly, an eEOV will have a defined unit of measurement; e.g., density, proportions of taxa in the diet, foraging locations, habitat area, and autoecological rates. For example, ocean colour could be observed in the field by measuring the relative intensities of reflected light at specified wavelengths, and these observations would then be converted into a "Chlorophyll a" eEOV using an algorithm that quantitatively relates ocean colour to Chl a density. Chl a could then be used with other eEOVs to estimate primary production, an ecosystem property.

International activities aimed at determining biological variables to be measured routinely in the long term.

Activity	Organisation/group	Web site
CCAMLR Ecosystem Monitoring Program	CCAMLR	www.ccamlr.org/en/science/ccamlr-ecosystem- monitoring-program-cemp
IndiSeas: evaluating effects of fishing on status of marine ecosystems, using a suite of indicators	UNESCO-IOC, EUR-OCEANS	www.indiseas.org
The Global Ocean Observing System Biology and Ecosystems Panel (GOOS Bio-Eco)	UNESCO-IOC, WMO, UNEP, ICSU	www.ioc-goos.org
Deep Ocean Observing Strategy (DOOS)	UNESCO-IOC, WMO, UNEP, ICSU	www.ioc-goos.org
Group on Earth Observation Biodiversity Observation	iDiv, NASA, UNEP-WCMC, GBIF, ASEAN Center for	www.geobon.org
Network (GEOBON)	Biodiversity, UNESCO-IOC, MOL, SASSCAL	
Integrated Atlantic Ocean Observing System (AtlantOS)	EU H2020 Consortium	www.atlantos-h2020.eu
Arctic Biodiversity Assessment (ABA)	Arctic Council	www.arcticbiodiversity.is
Arctic Regional Ocean Observing System (Arctic ROOS)	NERSC, SMHI, Ifremer, IMR, IOPAS, NIVA, DMI, MERCATOR,	www.arctic-roos.org
	DAMTP, AWI, FMI, IUP, MET Norway, NIERSC, NPI, GIUB, FCOO	
The Long-term-Ecological Research network (LTER)	International Consortium	www.lternet.edu

ASEAN Centre for Biodiversity (www.aseanbiodiversity.org). AWI – Alfred-Wegener-Institut für Polar- und Meeresforschung,

DAMTP - University of Cambridge, Department of Applied Mathematics and Theoretical Physics.

DMI – Danish Meteorological Institute. FCOO – Danish Defence Centre for Operational Oceanography.

FMI – Finnish Meteorological Institute.

GBIF – Global Biodiversity Information Facility (www.gbif.org).

GIUB – Geophysical Institute at University of Bergen.

ICSU – International Council for Science (www.icsu.org).

iDiv – German Centre for Integrative Biodiversity Research (www.idiv.de).

IFREMER – Institute Français de Recherche pour l'Exploitation de la Mer.

IMR – Institute of Marine Research in Norway.

IOPAS — Institute of Oceanology, Polish Academy of Sciences.

IUP – University of Bremen, Institute of Environmental Physics.

MERCATOR – Mercator Océan.

MET Norway - Norwegian Meteorological Institute.

MOL – Map of Life (www.mol.org).

NASA - National Aeronautics and Space Administration (www.NASA.gov).

NERSC – Nansen Environmental and Remote Sensing Center.

NIERSC – Nansen International Environmental and Remote Sensing Center.

NIVA — Norwegian Institute for Water Research.

NPI - Norwegian Polar Institute.

SASSCAL - Southern African Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adaptive Land Management (www.sasscal.org).

SMHI — Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute.

UNEP - United National Environment Programme (www.unep.org).

UNEP-WCMC – United Nations Environment Program – World Conservation Monitoring Centre (www.unep-wcmc.org).

UNESCO - IOC - Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (www.ioc-unesco.org).

WMO - World Meteorological Association (www.wmo.int).

The Southern Ocean Observing System (SOOS) is developing a set of variables to address 6 themes (Meredith et al., 2013; Rintoul et al., 2011), on heat and freshwater balance, overturning circulation, ice sheet stability and sea level rise, carbon uptake, sea ice and biological systems. It aims to coordinate the observations required for estimating these essential variables throughout the Southern Ocean. In 2014, with the Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR) and the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research (SCAR), and supported by the International Council for Science, SOOS coordinated a workshop hosted by Rutgers University, USA. This workshop aimed to (i) consider a framework for eEOVs for the Southern Ocean that would support the biology theme of SOOS and (ii) identify potential candidates for eEOVs.

In this paper, we outline a process for choosing candidate biological variables for adoption as eEOVs (hereafter termed 'candidate eEOVs'), and how candidate eEOVs could be progressed to final adoption as eEOVs, according to the process described by the FOO. We consider some of the spatial and temporal factors that will influence the implementation of eEOVs in an observing system, and discuss the importance of simulation modelling in helping with the design of the observing system in the long term. We then consider the ecosystem properties of the Southern Ocean and existing observing activities in the region. Lastly, we identify a range of candidate eEOVs that emerge from that experience, including many already being measured, and how they may be further developed for the region.

2. Choosing and implementing a set of essential variables

An observing system must have sufficient eEOVs to provide robust foundations for assessments of status and trends of ecosystem properties and development of scenarios for the future. Yet, it will not be practical or even desirable to measure and monitor everything; the observing system must be selective to be economically sustainable and logistically feasible. Efficiencies may be gained by using representative species or measurements, reference locations, or relative rather than absolute measures. These, and other, factors will need to be considered when evaluating eEOVs for inclusion in an observing system.

The inclusion of eEOVs in ocean observing systems will be an evolving process. The FOO (Lindstrom et al., 2012) argues that eEOVs to be given priority for development are those that would have high impact from their use and are feasible to adopt with existing technology and knowledge. We use the term 'utility' in place of 'impact' in order to avoid confusion with the use of the latter term in ecological and environmental science. These terms are intended to relate to an eEOV's utility in assessments of status and trends, attribution of causality, and in projections of future scenarios for marine ecosystems (Table 1). Feasibility relates to how efficiently and reliably the required eEOV quantity can be estimated. Feasibility is determined by (i) the availability in time and space of platforms, sensors and sampling equipment; (ii) the ability to standardise results; and (iii) the timely processing of the measurements. Feasibility is influenced by the costs associated with each of A.J. Constable et al. / Journal of Marine Systems 161 (2016) 26-41



Fig. 2. Hierarchy of the process required to move from discrete field observations to products that facilitate assessments of status and trends of ecosystems, attribution to causes, and likely future scenarios. The interplay between data collection by example and different types of analytical procedures (algorithms, statistics, dynamic models) is shown to the right. The triangle illustrates that the process may have 1-to-1 relationships between each level but, more likely, will have many elements from a lower level contributing to fewer synthetic elements at the next level, and that, on the whole, there is a general reduction in the number of elements from one level to the next. The observing system would have standard units to be achieved for eEOVs, which may require the specification of standard field methods. The example for the Southern Ocean illustrates how observations of the acoustic backscatter can deliver estimates of density (eEOV) that help assess change in ecosystem properties.

these factors, as well as the ability to coordinate an effective network of activities across operations. For example, efficiencies may be gained when combining capabilities on single platforms, such as the deployment of conductivity-temperature-depth recorders on animal trackers to observe oceanographic conditions coupled with foraging activities of the marine mammals and birds (Costa et al., 2008; Hindell et al., 2003).

eEOVs will vary in their spatial and temporal sampling requirements. For example, populations of top predators may not need to be measured every year, given their longevity, but seasonal and interannual variation in primary production means that phytoplankton standing stock may need to be estimated monthly or annually at times suitable for the measurement of the phenomena. Also, some eEOVs might benefit from a flexible sampling regime. In this case, they may be initially implemented with relatively coarse spatial or temporal field sampling designs, with planned finer sampling resolution when appropriate signals are detected. The sampling may then return to the coarser resolution after a specified period, or if a counter-signal has been observed. This could be the case when relating surface primary production to pulsed energy inputs to benthic assemblages. For some Antarctic assemblages, pulses of energy inputs may arise as a result of irregular timing of the formation of polynyas in heavy sea ice. Sampling would need to occur when the polynyas form but not at other times. This could also be the strategy for better resolving the consequences of extreme events, such as Antarctic ice shelf collapse.

These considerations of the roles of eEOVs, along with their utility and feasibility, form the basis for establishing criteria for deciding whether specific variables are eEOVs for SOOS. Criteria for establishing indicators, particularly for the effects of fishing, have been detailed over the last 15 years (e.g. Hayes et al., 2015; Jennings, 2005; Rice and Rochet, 2005). Building on this work, the criteria we consider important for eEOVs for the Southern Ocean are given in Table 4. An eEOV would be expected to be developed through three stages of readiness identified by the FOO (Lindstrom et al., 2012): conceptual to pilot to mature.

Conceptual eEOVs are candidates determined to have reasonable potential of meeting many criteria in Table 4; few candidates will meet all requirements. Qualitative modelling of key ecosystem quantities and processes can help identify the role that a specific eEOV will play (e.g. Hayes et al., 2015). The process for curating data will also need to be identified and tractable.

Conceptual eEOVs would then be evaluated further according to criteria in Table 4. The logistics and cost of the spatial and temporal sampling required to meet the criteria would be determined and evaluated for their acceptability. For example, variables aimed at signalling ecosystem change will need to have a suitable signal-to-noise ratio for the resources that could be committed to measuring them. Of course, measurements of some variables may become less expensive over time, through improved or cheaper technologies.

Realistic options for field designs can be evaluated using casestudies based on existing data or field studies. For example, suitable time series with spatial coverage are available from the west Antarctic Peninsula and the Scotia Sea (Ducklow et al., 2013; Kavanaugh et al., 2015; Rogers et al., 2012), as well as from satellite products and model re-analyses. These data can be used to estimate possible spatial distributions of the values of field measurements at different times. These distributions are then sampled according to possible field designs for collecting the observations, taking account of variation in the implementation of the design from one sampling event to the next. In this way, the statistical properties of the data arising from different designs can be assessed, as well as whether the eEOV will provide a suitable foundation for particular assessments of ecosystem properties. Candidate eEOVs determined to be feasible and cost-effective will be regarded as 'pilot'.

Criteria for assessing utility and feasibility of eEOVs for the Southern Ocean Observing System. Individual eEOVs do not need to meet all criteria.

Criterion	Feasibility, utility	Description
Signal change in ecosystem properties	Utility	Changes in the eEOV or related derived products are likely to be robust indicators of changes in the properties of the ecosystem, despite variability.
Contribution to developing and/or applying models investigating change and attribution	Utility	eEOVs can be used to validate, fit or parameterise models in order for those models to represent the ecosystem realistically, or components thereof (at various scales), with dynamics that are suitable for investigating change and attribution to cause.
Understanding for policy-makers and the public	Utility	Some eEOVs may improve understanding of dynamics and change, particularly to better explain changes in critical eEOVs.
Alignment with other eEOVs	Utility, feasibility	Some eEOVs will need to be sampled concurrently with others in order to disentangle trends from variability (e.g. covariates), to help differentiate between alternative models or to help attribute changes to a cause. Here, essential ocean variables from other disciplines may also be important.
Ability to be connected to historical (legacy) datasets, thus extending the time-series into the past	Feasibility, utility	Some eEOVs will help connect historical datasets with new datasets, thereby potentially lengthening the time-series of observations important for assessing change in ecosystem properties. These eEOVs may not be needed after the connection has been completed.
Potential to be adapted through time	Feasibility, utility	Improved knowledge and greater capacity for observations may result in an improved sampling design underpinning the eEOV. The signal derived from the eEOV needs to be robust to changes in the methods or design of data collection or, at least, can be standardised to maintain the comparability of legacy data. Similarly, the utility of the eEOV may be greater as the time-series increases.
Can be sampled at space and time scales appropriate to the task	Feasibility	Limited sampling in space and/or time may result in confounded signals, e.g. differences in the eEOV may be due to different locations being sampled at different times rather than a temporal trend.
Sufficiently high signal-to-noise ratio	Feasibility, utility	Have low sampling error, adequately captures the variability of the eEOV, and that a signal (trend) can be detected in the time scale required.
Potential for adaptive sampling	Feasibility	Coarse-grain sampling until a signal is observed to institute fine-grain sampling and then later revert to coarse-grain sampling when a counter-signal is observed.

Mature eEOVs will have clearly defined standards to be met by the data, as well as policies for the storage and availability of the data. Most importantly, mature eEOVs will be expected to have a high, long-term utility (Table 1). This utility will be determined by the reliability of the data stream, including the quality of the data, the spatial and temporal coverage of the measurements achieved, and whether the signal can be detected above the noise of measurement error and variability. Mature eEOVs and their associated sampling designs will also be required to fulfil the requirements expected by scientists and managers.

The process for evaluating the long-term utility of an eEOV could take a long time if it were done by trial and error; time and resources could be wasted if chosen variables are found to have negligible or low utility. Instead, advances in dynamic simulation models of marine ecosystems, combined with existing time-series, provide a faster process for testing the performance of observing systems and the utility of eEOVs under plausible scenarios (Constable and Doust, 2009; Henson et al., 2016; Fulton and Link, 2014; Masutani et al., 2010). This process, using case studies and model simulations, is illustrated in Fig. 3.

Scenarios may include hypothesised or modelled time-series of different plausible futures, such as under climate change (e.g. rising temperatures at specified rates) (Fig. 3a; Constable et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2012; Nymand Larson et al., 2014), but can also include simulating historical time series. The latter retrospective analyses can reveal which combinations of variables would have been most useful in detecting known changes in sufficient time for good decisions to be made on managing the marine environment.

An ecosystem model is used to simulate the scenarios to give time series of ecosystem properties and eEOVs (Fig. 3b). The proposed observing system (regular line transects, occupied stations, adaptive glider routes, trawl surveys, and/or ships-of-opportunity taking underway observations such as active acoustics) is simulated to sample from the ecosystem at appropriate spatial and temporal scales (Fig. 3c). The simulated measurements are then used for assessments of the ecosystem properties. The eEOVs and estimated ecosystem properties are then compared to their actual values from the ecosystem model; the difference between the estimated and actual values is a measure of the performance of the observing system. While the effect of spatial and temporal variability on the estimates of eEOVs and ecosystem properties may be explored first, the effects of missing some samples or having errors in locations and/or times of sampling can also be explored to test the effects of uncertainty in funding or resourcing in the long term (Fig. 3d).

The performance of the observing system may be judged according to the measures that would quantify the criteria in Table 4, including accuracy and precision of individual eEOVs or ecosystem properties or trends in either of these (Fig. 3e). A further consideration is the cost of implementing the observation system; there be insufficient resources for some eEOVs to achieve good performance against some criteria. Decisions will need to be made on the minimum performance requirements to be met by an observing system; for example, some variables may need to be estimated with a minimum level of accuracy while others may only require a minimum level of precision.

Many trials of a scenario may be needed to adequately explore the range of behaviours of the system in order to test that eEOVs are reliable, irrespective of the sequence of events that may occur. For example, variation in the dataset may arise from different conditions at the start of the time-series of observations, ecological dynamics, variation in space and time, as well as the random behaviours (errors) of the observing system. Trials for a scenario may also include varying the structure of the ecosystem to test how robust the observing system is to uncertainty in knowledge about the ecosystem. In addition, the performance of a prospective observing system can be evaluated across many future scenarios for the ecosystem, for example, different rates of change, multiple stressors and the like. The design of the observing system can then be adjusted until the minimum performance requirements are likely to be met despite the random variability and errors in any one scenario, and, most importantly, despite which scenario eventuates.

No single observing system design will achieve the best performance for all eEOVs, given the resources available to the observing system. The aim will be to find an observing system that satisfactorily meets the requirements across all eEOVs, which will likely require their prioritisation. In the future, this simulation process can be used to evaluate how to add to the observing system in a cost-effective manner should new resources become available; for example, how to improve measurements of lower priority eEOVs or to help determine the costeffective implementation of new eEOVs.



Fig. 3. Important steps in the process for evaluating candidate eEOVs using case studies and model simulations (see text for explanation). a. Scenarios derived from hypothesised or modelled time-series of global or regional physical forcings. b. Models/data used to generate time-series of ecosystem properties, represented here by a schematic of a coupled end-toend ecosystem model for the Indian Sector of the Southern Ocean, based on physical, habitat and food web sub-models. c. Alternative sampling designs in space and time for measuring the candidate eEOVs and tested against the criteria in Table 4 (Fig. 5 is reproduced here showing a possible design based on current field capability). d. Trials of a design used to generate a time-series of observed eEOVs using the proposed sampling design(circles with error bars and a fitted dashed line) to compare with the actual time-series of the quantities in the model (solid line). e. The performance of a design, with the figure showing the performance (box plots illustrate variability in performance across many randomised trials) of 2 field designs for 2 plausible future scenarios and based on 4 different plausible models of the ecosystem.

3. Candidate eEOVs for the Southern Ocean

The need for regular assessments of change in Antarctic marine ecosystems has been identified by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (IPCC, 2014; Nymand Larson et al., 2014), the Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting (ATCM, 2015), the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) (CCAMLR, 2015a; SC-CAMLR, 2011), and SCAR (Kennicutt et al., 2014; Turner et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2013). The question that is important for managers is whether the ecology of the Southern Ocean is changing as a result of regional (e.g., fishing, pollution, tourism) and/or global (e.g., temperature, carbon dioxide) pressures, and how should managers respond in order to minimise unwanted impacts of these changes? In this section, we summarise knowledge on the ecosystem properties of the Southern Ocean, and their sources of variability and change. We also describe existing efforts for establishing time-series of observations. We then identify candidate eEOVs for the region, including what we consider to be their state of readiness. Lastly, we discuss the available tools and processes that can be used to determine a mature set of eEOVs for SOOS.

3.1. Ecosystem properties of the Southern Ocean

Habitats of the Southern Ocean are well reviewed by Constable et al. (2014) and Gutt et al. (2015). Pelagic habitats are determined by a mix of ocean features, a general gradation of warmer waters in the north to colder waters in the south, delineated by a number of fronts in the

west–east flow of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current, and overlaid in the southerly areas by the annual advance and retreat of sea ice (Fig. 4). Nearer to the coast is the east–west flow of the Antarctic Coastal Current, which is broken up by several jets and gyres, notably the Ross and Weddell gyres. Ice shelves, icebergs and glacier tongues create a variety of habitats on the continental shelf. Benthic habitats vary along the continental shelf and slope. Shallow water habitats also occur on the Scotia Arc, the Kerguelen Plateau and the Macquarie Ridge, as well as around other subantarctic islands and seamounts. These physical factors contribute to differing conditions in four different sectors of the region — the East and West Pacific, Atlantic and Indian (Constable et al., 2014).

The diversity of marine biota around Antarctica and in the Southern Ocean, and their spatial distribution, was the subject of intense investigation during the International Polar Year. A thorough compilation of results was published in the SCAR Biogeographic Atlas of the Southern Ocean (De Broyer et al., 2014). For many species, particularly benthos, zooplankton, fish and squid, the spatial distributions are not well described because of the limited coverage of fully quantitative samples; many records are difficult to analyse for relative abundance of different species and when species were not present (i.e. presence-only data).

Primary production is greatest on the continental shelf and near islands, submarine plateaux, banks and seamounts (Fig. 5). Iron supply and surface stratification are critically important to the magnitude of the seasonal blooms, which may vary in their timing depending on spring weather and the retreat of sea ice. The relative abundance of different phytoplankton species varies with location, with larger diatoms and the colonial form of the haptophyte *Phaeocystis antarctica* dominating the more productive areas and smaller species dominating elsewhere (Constable et al., 2014). The distribution of chlorophyll using ocean colour data from satellites shows the spatial variability in primary production. However, the algorithm for converting ocean colour into standing stock of phytoplankton and primary production needs to account for



Fig. 4. Major physical features of the Southern Ocean, including key locations referred to in the text; major sectors differentiating the ecosystems; minimum and maximum extent of sea ice; the Subtropical, Subantarctic and Polar fronts, Southern Boundary of the Antarctic Circumpolar Current; and the 1000 m contour (Fig. 3 from Constable et al. (2014)).



Fig. 5. Illustration of a potential design of field sampling for ecosystems in the Southern Ocean Observing System. The map of the Southern Ocean shows potential field capability at present, using satellites, land-based monitoring and possible transects that could be occupied routinely using shipping in the region. Black circles indicate transects near where shipping operations exist. Blue circles are transects that may be possible with some deviations. Light circles are those transects that would be desirable but not near regular shipping routes. The first letters on transects relate to sectors that may be used for assessments: E = East Pacific, W = West Pacific, I = Indian, A = Atlantic (described in Constable et al., 2014). The second letter E = Ecosystem transect and then a number for identification.

several sources of error, which are more problematic for the Southern Ocean than elsewhere (Johnson et al., 2013; Strutton et al., 2012). These errors include the spatial and seasonal variability in the relative abundance of species (each of which comprise different relative proportions of chlorophyll), variability in the relationship of surface chlorophyll to the integrated depth profile of chlorophyll (including accounting for variation in the depths of the deep chlorophyll maximum and mixed layer resulting from ice melt and wind), and uncertainty in production from standing stock of different species under different conditions. A further source of error is the standing stock of algae found in and under sea ice, which is very poorly estimated at present but is known to be very abundant in some areas (Meiners et al., 2012).

Food-web structure results from the combination of habitat attributes, the supply and consumable size of organic inputs either as detritus or primary production, and the tolerances to different habitat conditions of species at different trophic levels (Constable et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2012; Murphy et al., 2013). The most widely understood food chain is pelagic, comprising large diatoms-Antarctic krill- krill predators (whales, penguins, seals, fish) (SC-CAMLR, 2008). However, food chains based on smaller phytoplankton – zooplankton (copepods) – fish – higher trophic levels occur both near the Antarctic continent and around subantarctic islands. These latter food chains and their relative importance in the region compared to Antarctic krill are poorly understood (Murphy et al., 2012; SC-CAMLR, 2008). Moreover, little information is available on benthic food chains, including benthic primary production, and the role of benthic-pelagic coupling on the Antarctic continental shelf.

The construction of Antarctic food webs and the spatial variability in these food webs is now being given attention (Murphy et al., 2012; Murphy and Hofmann, 2012). Increasingly, weaknesses are being identified in our understanding of energy transfer and productivity of different trophic levels (Hill et al., 2012; Melbourne-Thomas et al., 2013; Murphy et al., 2013; Pinkerton et al., 2010). Food-web structure and the relative importance of different energy pathways will be influenced by how well species respond to the marked seasonality of the habitats and interannual variation in this seasonality (Fig. 4 in Constable et al., 2014). This seasonality and variability varies with latitude and between different sectors of the Southern Ocean (Fig. 4; Constable et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2012).

The diverse and unique ecosystems of the Southern Ocean have been affected by more than two centuries of regional human pressures, notably with the over-exploitation of whales, seals and finfish (SC-CAMLR, 2008). Fisheries for toothfish, icefish and Antarctic krill are at sustainable levels (SC-CAMLR, 2015a). Tourism and pollution may also add pressure within the region but would currently have localised effects in the nearshore/coastal environments, if such effects occur (Tin et al., 2009). Global human pressures are resulting in rapid changes in habitats through change in ocean temperature, winds, ocean acidification, UV radiation, and seasonal ice cover, although the degree and direction of change varies among different sectors of the region (Constable et al., 2014; Gutt et al., 2015).

3.2. Existing and emerging time-series of observations

Existing time-series of observations provides the foundation for establishing a mature set of eEOVs; these observations show what is feasible to collect at present.

Circumpolar habitat measurements are available through the combination of physical variables from satellites (Stammerjohn et al., 2008), the Argo float programme (Dong et al., 2008), occupied oceanographic sections (Hood, 2009) and conductivity-temperature-depth recorders on seals and penguins (Costa et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2008; Hindell et al., 2003). Moorings and gliders are increasingly being used in some areas and now include biogeochemical measurements as well (Kahl et al., 2010; Kaufman et al., 2014; Schofield et al., 2013). Advances in Argo and other floats, including SOCCOM and PROVOR floats, will enable observations to extend to the deep sea and under ice and routinely include biogeochemical measurements (Kikuchi et al., 2007). These activities and developments suggest that eEOVs relating to the threedimensional nature of habitats and primary production will be readily observed in the not too distant future.

Biological variables for the Southern Ocean have been measured since the time of the Biological Investigations of Marine Antarctic Systems and Stocks (BIOMASS) surveys coordinated by SCAR (El-Sayed, 1994). Other SCAR initiatives include the expansion of the use of continuous plankton recorders (CPR) for monitoring zooplankton, and more recently phytoplankton, through the Southern Ocean CPR Survey (Hosie et al., 2014; Hosie et al., 2003). The census of Antarctic pack-ice seals (Southwell et al., 2012) occurred in the 1990s-early 2000s and the Census of Antarctic Marine Life was undertaken as part of the International Polar Year (De Broyer et al., 2011; De Broyer et al., 2014). More recently, tracks of marine mammals and birds in the Southern Ocean are being compiled into central databases (Roquet et al., 2014; Raymond et al., 2014), as well as diets of different species (Raymond et al., 2011).

Since the establishment of its Secretariat, CCAMLR has been maintaining records of commercial catches of Antarctic species, including haul-by-haul catch, fishing effort and location data (CCAMLR, 2015b). CCAMLR also maintains reports of estimates of time-series of abundances of target species and, where possible, by-catch species, including benthos (https://www.ccamlr.org/en/publications/fishery-reports). Since the mid-1980s, CCAMLR has developed its CCAMLR Ecosystem Monitoring Program (CEMP: Agnew, 1997 – http://www.ccamlr.org/ en/science/ccamlr-ecosystem-monitoring-program-cemp). The CEMP aims to establish monitoring sites for measuring the effects of krill fishing on krill and krill predators, and for differentiating these effects from those of environmental variability and change (see review in Constable, 2011).

Research on the ecology and abundance of whales occurs under the auspices of the Southern Ocean Research Partnership (http://www.marinemammals.gov.au/sorp) (Bell, 2015) and the Southern Ocean Whale and Ecosystem Research programme of the Scientific Committee of the International Whaling Commission (IWC) (Branch, 2007; Branch and Butterworth, 2001; Branch and Rademeyer, 2003).

A Workshop to Review Input Data for Antarctic Marine Ecosystem Models jointly hosted by the Scientific Committees of CCAMLR and the IWC (SC-CAMLR, 2008) reviewed the status of knowledge on many ecological properties of the Southern Ocean, including abundance, trends in abundance, habitat use and diet of many taxa, including phytoplankton biomass and primary production (Strutton et al., 2012), zooplankton (Atkinson et al., 2012b), Antarctic krill (Atkinson et al., 2012a), fish (Kock et al., 2012), penguins (Ratcliffe and Trathan, 2011), icebreeding seals (Southwell et al., 2012), and whales (Leaper and Miller, 2011; Zerbini et al., 2010). Recently, large-scale censuses have been undertaken for emperor penguins (Fretwell and Trathan, 2009) and Adelie penguins (Lynch et al., 2012; Southwell et al., 2015).

Several national programmes have maintained long time-series of observations both at sea and at land-based colonies of penguins and seals, including the Long-Term Ecological Research site on the west Antarctic Peninsula (USA), the US-AMLR programme in the South Shetland Islands, and programmes in the Scotia Arc (UK, Norway). Long timeseries of penguins have been maintained in the Ross Sea (USA, NZ, Italy), East Antarctica (France, Australia, Japan), Indian Ocean subantarctic (France, also including seals) and Pacific Ocean subantarctic (Australia, New Zealand).

More recently, CCAMLR is developing a means by which active acoustic data can be routinely collected by ships of opportunity, notably fishing vessels, for monitoring mesopelagic species, such as krill and myctophid fish. Further, international efforts are underway to develop a cost-effective, satellite method for monitoring seal and penguin populations from space (SOOS Working Group on Censusing Animal Populations from Space; http://soos.aq/activities/capability-wgs/caps-wg).

While many aspects of the Southern Ocean ecosystem have been measured at one time or another, there are few places other than the



Fig. 6. Schematic diagram showing some ecosystem components (bold boxes) for which there are standard methods in the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR) (https://www.ccamlr.org/en/science/ccamlr-ecosystem-monitoring-program-cemp) — haul-by-haul catch reporting for the fishery, standard protocol for estimating density of krill using acoustics (Watkins et al., 2004), and the standard methods for penguins in the CCAMLR Ecosystem Monitoring Program (CEMP). The dashed arrows indicate linkages that are not regularly estimated. The dotted boxes with italicised names indicate parameters that could be considered as eEOVs. The dotted arrows show the aspects of the food web to which the eEOVs would relate.

Antarctic Peninsula and Scotia Arc where populations and processes are all routinely observed at the same time. A great challenge will be to establish sustained observing across sufficient eEOVs that take account of spatial, seasonal and inter-annual variability.

3.3. Candidate eEOVs

A number of candidate eEOVs for the Southern Ocean emerge from existing experience along with consideration of significant gaps in knowledge of the properties of the region.

The evolution of CEMP to facilitate management of the Antarctic krill fishery provides a practical foundation for considering the biological variables that would form the backbone of an observing system, from which assessments of change and attribution of these changes to their causes could then be made. CEMP collects data on krill, the krill fishery and krill predators (Fig. 6). Attention has mostly focussed on krill predators, although regular local surveys of krill occur on the west Antarctic Peninsula and in the Scotia Arc as well (Agnew, 1997; Constable, 2011).

These CEMP data have been summarised into ecosystem indices to help determine when significant changes may occur and to assist in attributing the cause of any change (Boyd and Murray, 2001; Constable et al., 2000; de la Mare and Constable, 2000). However, their use for decision making remains to be implemented. A difficulty in the application of these data is the need for greater spatial coverage of the annual monitoring (not all CEMP variables are measured at all sites and not all fishing locations have monitoring sites), and a better demonstration that the data can be used to link change in the magnitude of predator performance (mostly reproductive success) and the fishery's catch.

More recently, consideration is being given to how to use these types of data to disentangle the effects of fishing from the effects of environmental change (e.g. SC-CAMLR, 2011, 2015b), and how assessments of future ecosystem changes may facilitate adaptation of the fisheries to future conditions (Constable et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2012). There is now recognition that environmental change may result in an increase in the relative importance of energy pathways alternative to those dependent on krill and, therefore, could result in a reduced abundance of krill (Constable et al., 2014). Further, changes in habitats may result in spatial shifts in the food web not due to the fishery (Constable et al., 2014).

The collection of eEOVs in the observing system will need to encompass sufficient attributes of the food web (including state and process variables) to satisfactorily underpin assessments of the status and trends of the system. For individual biota, 9 types of eEOVs can be used to assess the status of ecosystem properties in Table 2. These can be grouped as state variables, predator-prey linkages, or autecological processes. State variables include abundance, species composition and size spectra. Predator-prey linkages include the biological, spatial and temporal overlap of predators with prey, i.e. foraging timing and range, along with diet. Autecological eEOVs include annual phenology (e.g. timing of reproduction, migration), reproductive output and individual growth. A result of autecological processes is the export of detritus and the potential for recycling of nutrients from waste products. An example of how these eEOVs might be used in assessing ecosystem properties is where data on abundance, foraging and diet are used to assess the status of the part of a food web sustained by species targeted by fisheries, such as krill (Constable, 2001).

Fig. 7 illustrates how CEMP monitoring in Fig. 6 could be expanded to better fulfil the purposes of CCAMLR, particularly given the potential for alternative energy pathways other than through krill (Murphy et al., 2012). Importantly, we can identify in this analysis that not all processes or state variables need to be measured for all species in order to characterise the system and estimate the ecosystem properties. Also, when variables do not substantially vary or the relationships with other variables are well established then they need not be observed regularly, although checks may be made from time to time.

With these principles in mind, we identify candidate eEOVs for habitats and the major biotic groups in the Southern Ocean ecosystem benthic species, pelagic and sea-ice taxa, and marine mammals and birds. We also identify candidate eEOVs for observing regional pressures on the ecosystem — fisheries, pollution, and tourism. These are summarised in Table 5. We have identified possible states of readiness of the candidates in Table 5 based on their current level of implementation, although these require further scrutiny according to the criteria



Fig. 7. Using eEOVs in ecological models: Example schematic showing how the main elements of a food web model that might use time-series of eEOVs to make the model realistic, either through validation procedures, model fitting or data assimilation. Solid boxes and arrows indicate components of the food web for which ecological properties could be assessed directly. Dashed arrows indicate linkages that may not be regularly observed. Dashed ovals indicate components of the model that may not be regularly estimated. The dotted boxes with italicised names indicate potential candidate eEOVs. Parameters in Fig. 6 are included in this diagram in the set of boxes for krill, fishery and penguins, illustrating how eEOVs can support a number of questions and approaches and use observations already being collected. Phaeocyst. *Phaeocystis antarctica*. NanoPL. NanoPl. Birds and Marine Mammals.

Candidate ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables (eEOVs) for Southern Ocean ecosystems to be evaluated against criteria in Table 4 and for their utility in delivering assessment results for Southern Ocean ecosystems. *Indicates initial candidates — when available, example field observations are included in place of asterisk. Note that the scale of sampling is proposed at the level of detail indicated in the component description; that is, species are listed when that level of detail is intended for eEOVs, otherwise the expectation is at the functional group level at this stage. Some of these candidate eEOVs are illustrated in Fig. 7. CEMP = CCAMLR Ecosystem Monitoring Program Standard Method (the number of the method is given). Colours reflect readiness (subject to evaluation against the criteria) of the eEOV as conceptual (red), pilot (yellow), mature (green) (grey cells indicate measures that will not be developed).

Jota Jota Jota Jota State Jota Problem							Type of eEOV						
Brinderwand biology market		Abundance / density / magnitude	State Genetic / species composition	Size spectrum (body size)	Preda Foraging range	tor-prey Diet	Phenology	Autecol Reprod– uctive rate	ogy Individual growth rate	Detritus export/ import	Re Fishery catch	gional pressur Pollution	res Tourism
Impact lension Impact lensin Impact lension Impact	Related Ecosystem Properties (EPs)	1,2,3,4,5,6,8	1,4,5,6,7,8	1,2,4,5,8	2,4,5,8	2,3,4,5,8	2,3,4,8	2,4,8	2,4,8	1	3,8	8	8
Since Control	1. Physical habitats	Ontirelement											
Norme data base base base base base base base services I and the services I and the	Sea water	Optical sensors											
India	Temperature Mixed–layer depth	•											
org org </td <td>Fronts & eddies Nutrients</td> <td>•</td> <td></td>	Fronts & eddies Nutrients	•											
Norm	Oxygen	•											
Notice Notice Note in the interval interv	Sea ice												
Indefinition	Thickness Concentration	Satellite											
Image	Benthic Sediment												
Main Survey S	Biogenic habitats												
Carbine genetic series Carbine genet	Weather	*											
Alendia region Image: solution of the solution	Snow cover	·											
Mathematic Marcial (Marcial	2. Benthic species Sessile taxa	*	•	•						•	Haul		
interchanes inte	Mohile	*	*	*							reports Haul		
rsho Interval Int	invertebrates										reports		
Arden on Similar black Similar black Simi	FISN			-		-					reports		
tand Column	3. Pelagic & sea ice												
sincrubal loop sincr	taxa Primary Producers	Colour	Genomics	Underway/						•			
Maineyway analysis anal	& microbial loop	spectrum (e.g. Chl a),		under-ice image									
Kuil Acousic, net (botil) inet(botil) Sampling urble) inet(botil) Sampling urble) inet(botil)		underway/ under-ice net		analysis									
Name		and bottle sampling, CPR											
Kill Acoustics.net interpretation Net interpretation Net interpret													
Krill Account in HPUC Angenting signature Account is provided in the second signature Account is provided is provided			net/bottle sampling										
Krill Acoustics, nets Genomic sampling Satope			HPLC										
Zooplankom CRR CRR CRR Stagnature Mesopelagic fish Acoustics, net Net sampling Net sampling Stagnature Incl Incl Haul Other fish Net surveys Incl Stagnature Incl Incl Haul Haul Addie Chints-ground Octors-ground Ground-sectors CEMP A1; Stotope Stotope CEMP A2; Stotope CEMP A3; Stotope CEMP A2; Stotope CEMP A2; Stotope CEMP A3; C	Krill	Acoustics, nets		Net sampling		lsotope signature					Haul reports		
Mesopelagic fish Actuastics, nets Met sampling Net sampling Storper signature Storper signature Storper signature Icle	Zooplankton	CPR nets	CPR Genomics	CPR Nets		Isotope signature							
Other fish Net surveys Image: signature signa	Mesopelagic fish	Acoustics, nets	Net sampling	Net sampling		Isotope signature					Haul reports		
Amarine mammals and birds Amarine mammals and birds Amarine mammals areial (MAY) satellite CEMP A1 observations CEMP A1 CEMP A5; CEMP A3; satellite Trackers; Signature CEMP A5; CEMP A5; satellite Remote camera observations; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; Satellite CEMP A1; CEMP A5; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; Satellite Remote camera observations; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; CEMP A6; Satellite Remote camera observations; CEMP A6; CEMP	Other fish	Net surveys		can party and		Isotope					Haul		
4. Marine manumals Genumals						Signature					reports		
Addle, Chinstrap- Grento (Pygoci- spp) penguins Counts -ground (Aptenol/Fsspp) Counts -ground (Aptenol/Fsspp) CEMP A3 satellite Trackers; (EMP A5 Sotope (EMP A5 Remote cEMP A5 CEMP A5 Sectope (EMP A5 Fermite (EMP A5 CEMP A5 Sotope (EMP A5 Remote (EMP A5 CEMP A5 Fermite (EMP A5	4. Marine mammals and birds												
spp) penguins CEMP A3 CEMP A7 CEMP A9 Import CEMP A9 </td <td>Adelie, Chinstrap, Gentoo (Pygoscelis</td> <td>Counts –ground aerial, UAVs</td> <td>Ground observations</td> <td>CEMP A1; CEMP A6;</td> <td>Trackers;</td> <td>lsotope signature;</td> <td>Remote camera</td> <td>CEMP A2 CEMP A4</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Adelie, Chinstrap, Gentoo (Pygoscelis	Counts –ground aerial, UAVs	Ground observations	CEMP A1; CEMP A6;	Trackers;	lsotope signature;	Remote camera	CEMP A2 CEMP A4					
Kink Ground observations Ground observations Firscheris Store Remote observations Firscheris Store Remote observations Firscheris Store Remote observations Firscheris	spp) penguins	CEMP A3		CEMP A7	CEMP A5	CEMP A8	observations; CEMP A9						
King Endperform Counts -ground Counts -ground observations Nakes Signature Remote observations Humpback (baleen) Visual surveys Visual surveys Visual surveys Trackers Isotope signature Isotope camera Isotope observations Isotope camera Isotope signature Isotope camera Isotope signature Isotope camera Isotope observations Isotope camera Isotope signature Isotope camera Isotope observations Isotope camera Isotope observations Isotope camera Isotope camera <td>Vine Francis</td> <td>Satellite</td> <td>Cound</td> <td></td> <td>Tasalaan</td> <td>Instance</td> <td>Demete</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Vine Francis	Satellite	Cound		Tasalaan	Instance	Demete						
Image: stability in the st	(Aptenodytes spp)	aerial, UAVs	observations		IIdekeis	signature	camera						
Induction Visital surveys Visitar surveys Visitor	Humpback (baleen)	satellite Visual surveys	Visual surveys		Trackers	Isotopa	observations						
Crabel (Pack ice) Satellite, UAVs Satellite, UAVs Satellite, UAVs Signature Remote CEMP C1 CEMP C2 Antarctic fur and southern elephant (Land-based) seals CEMP B1; CEMP B2; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEM	whales	visual surveys	visual surveys		IIdekeis	signature							
Antarctic fur and southers elphased) seals Counts-ground aerial, UAVs satellite CemP c Remote signature CEMP C1 CEMP C2 CEMP C2 Flying birds CEMP B1; CEMP B5 CEMP B1; CEMP B5 CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; File <	Crabeater (Pack ice) seals	Satellite, UAVs				lsotope signature							
(Land-based) seals Satellite Image: satellite Imag	Antarctic fur and southern elephant	Counts –ground aerial, UAVs			Trackers; CEMP C1	lsotope signature	Remote camera	CEMP C1	CEMP C2				
Flying birds CEMP B1; CEMP B2; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; CEMP B2; CEMP B3; Image: CEMP B3; <	(Land-based) seals	satellite					observations						
S.Human pressure Fisheries Effort dumping, spills Image: Spread project spread proj	Flying birds	CEMP B1; CEMP B5				CEMP B4; CEMP T1		CEMP B2; CEMP B3;					
S. Human pressures Effort Effort Effort Effort Icoations Haul Haul Pollution Pollution Coastal point-source, dumping, spills Spread pf coastal point-source, dumping, spills Discharge Discharge Discharge reports Tourism Visitor Visitor Visitor Visitor Effort Icoations Icoations <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>CEMP B6</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>								CEMP B6					
Pollution Coastal point- source, dumping, spills Coort (constance) Pollution Discharge (constance) Tourism Visitor locations Visitor locations Visitor Coastal (constance) Coastal (constance) Tourism Visitor locations Visitor Coastal (constance) Coastal (constance) Coastal (constance)	5. Human pressures	Effort			Effort						Havel		
Pollution Coastal point- source, dumping, spills Spread pf Discharge Tourism Visitor numbers, ship Visitor locations, Discharge	TISHELIES	LIIOIT			locations						reports		
aumping, spills point- source, dumping, spills Tourism Visitor numbers, ship Visitor locations, Activity points	Pollution	Coastal point- source,			Spread pf coastal							Discharge reports	
Tourism Visitor numbers, ship Visitor locations, Compared to the ship of the s		aumping, spills			source,								
Tourism Visitor Visitor locations, Activity reports					spills								
	Tourism	Visitor numbers, ship			Visitor								Activity
traffic ship traffic		traffic			ship traffic								

outlined above. Where established, the methods currently used for collecting the data are indicated.

Habitat measurements are now well known and include photosynthetically active radiation (PAR), temperature, sea-surface stratification (mixed layer depth), currents and eddies, nutrients, oxygen, pH and sea-ice concentration and thickness. Benthic habitats include geomorphology (substratum type) and the coverage by biogenic habitats. For marine predators on land, the extent of a colony may be influenced by availability of nesting habitat and reproductive success could be affected by environmental conditions on land such as weather and snow cover.

The most well-developed eEOVs relate to phytoplankton and marine mammals and birds, although the units of measurements to be achieved remain to be internationally agreed upon in many cases. This is the reason most candidate eEOVs are identified to be at the conceptual level, or are yet to be developed. CEMP parameters are well developed field methods but are shown here as pilot because of the need to evaluate them against the aforementioned criteria (Table 4) before being considered mature.

The monitoring of regional human pressures (fisheries, pollution, tourism) is well advanced in the Antarctic Treaty System and these are regarded as mature eEOVs.

3.4. Progressing mature eEOVs for the Southern Ocean Observing System

The next step in consolidating eEOVs for the Southern Ocean will be to evaluate each of the candidates in Table 5 against the criteria in Table 4. This work will be facilitated by harnessing existing experience in ecosystem assessments and modelling for the Southern Ocean (Murphy et al., 2012; Turner et al., 2009; Turner et al., 2013) and other marine ecosystems (Fulton and Link, 2014; Fulton et al., 2014; Perry et al., 2010; Shin and Shannon, 2010). Scenarios for change in Southern Ocean ecosystems have been summarised in Constable et al. (2014) and Nymand Larson et al. (2014). Dynamic simulation models to represent these ecosystems are being developed and implemented (Murphy et al., 2012), and future scenarios are being established for investigating climate change impacts on the Southern Ocean (Gutt et al., 2015). Following appropriate tuning, the models and scenarios can be used to evaluate the degree to which uncertainty in ecosystem structure and dynamics may affect signals from candidate eEOVs as part of an observing system in the future. This evaluation will need to be supported by developing appropriate metrics of ecosystem properties derived from eEOVs, including methods to visualise and simplify complex results.

Circumpolar coverage for many candidate eEOVs in the Southern Ocean will be feasible when considered in relation to available field capabilities (Fig. 5). A number of the main areas of production in the Southern Ocean, extending from the continent to the subantarctic, are frequently occupied by resupply and marine science vessels. These include the (i) West Antarctic Peninsula–Drake Passage, (ii) Weddell Sea–Scotia Arc, (iii) Maud Rise–Bouvet Island, (iv) Prydz Bay–Kerguelen Plateau, and (v) Ross Sea–Macquarie Ridge.

4. Concluding remarks

Ecosystem essential ocean variables should collectively provide the foundation upon which scientists and managers can build programmes to identify change, attribute that change to its cause(s) and distinguish between alternative models for ecosystem futures. The Rutgers Workshop on eEOVs in 2014 made substantial progress towards developing an observing system for Southern Ocean ecosystems. The challenge now is to demonstrate which candidate eEOVs need to be given priority for investment in the long term because it will not be possible to regularly measure all candidates in Table 5 with sufficient spatial and temporal coverage. The adopted eEOVs would be expected to be mature in their development, have known implementation requirements (feasible field design) and be widely utilised.

Other than habitat variables, nine general types of eEOVs were identified within three classes: state (magnitude, genetic/species, size spectrum), predator–prey (diet, foraging range), and autecology (phenology, reproductive rate, individual growth rate, detritus). Most candidates for the suite of Southern Ocean taxa relate to state or diet. Candidate autecological eEOVs have not been developed other than for marine mammals and birds. A challenge will be to determine whether autecological eEOVs could be developed for lower trophic levels, given known variation in growth and reproductive rates, say, for Antarctic krill (Hill et al., 2013; Kawaguchi et al., 2006).

The state of readiness of many of these candidate eEOVs is currently at the conceptual or pilot stage rather than mature. In cases where candidate eEOVs are already regularly being observed and used, the experience should allow them to progress more rapidly through a case-study review to become pilot or, where the future requirements have been evaluated and the preferred sampling design has been articulated, mature eEOVs.

Simulation models to evaluate the performance of these candidates under different future scenarios will be important for deciding which eEOVs will have the greatest utility and should be adopted as mature eEOVs (Fulton and Link, 2014; Hayes et al., 2015). This process must include testing of field designs and provide a means of resolving competing demands for limited field operations. International coordination (Cai et al., 2015) through SOOS (Meredith et al., 2013) will be essential for delivering a strong foundation for assessing status, trends, attribution and likely future scenarios for Southern Ocean ecosystems. The next step in the process to reduce the set of candidate eEOVs for SOOS in Table 5 could be a workshop involving CEMP and SOOS scientists (among others), in which they would focus on the readiness of the candidate eEOVs.

Acknowledgements

This paper arose from a SOOS, SCOR, SCAR, IMBER, and APECS workshop in March 2014 on identifying ecosystem Essential Ocean Variables (eEOVs) and enhancing collaboration in ecosystem observing, with an emphasis on the Southern Ocean. We thank ICSU for providing a grant to hold the workshop and to Rutgers University for providing the venue and support. We also thank SOOS, SCOR (U.S. National Science Foundation Grant OCE-1546580), and SCAR for providing financial support and SCOR for support for this article to be open access. Lastly, we thank three anonymous reviewers for their positive and constructive comments on the manuscript. Fig. 4 was reprinted with kind permission from John Wiley & Sons Ltd. This paper is a contribution to the SOOS Capability Working Group on eEOVs.

References

- Agnew, D.J., 1997. The CCAMLR ecosystem monitoring programme. Antarct. Sci. 9, 235–242.
- Anon, 2014. Report of the First Technical Experts Workshop of the GOOS Biogeochemistry Panel: Defining Essential Ocean Variables for Biogeochemistry, 13–16 November 2013, Townsville, Australia. International Ocean Carbon Coordination Project p. 22 (http://www.ioccp.org/foo).
- ATCM, 2015. Report of the Thirty-Eighth Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting, Volume II. Secretariat of the Antarctic Treaty, Buenos Aires, Argentina.
- Atkinson, A., Nicol, S., Kawaguchi, S., Pakhomov, E.A., Quetin, L., Ross, R., Hill, S., Reiss, C., Siegel, V., Tarling, G., 2012a. Fitting *Euphausia superba* into Southern Ocean food-web models: a review of data sources and their limitations (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 19, 219–245.
- Atkinson, A., Ward, P., Hunt, B.P.V., Pakhomov, E.A., Hosie, G.W., 2012b. An overview of Southern Ocean zooplankton data: abundance, biomass, feeding and functional relationships (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 19, 171–218.
- Bell, E.C., 2015. Annual Report of the Southern Ocean Research Partnership (IWC-SORP) 2013/14. Paper Submitted for Consideration by the IWC Scientific Committee.
- Boyd, I.L., Murray, A.W.A., 2001. Monitoring a marine ecosystem using responses of upper trophic level predators. J. Anim. Ecol. 70, 747–760.
- Branch, T.A., 2007. Abundance of Antarctic blue whales south of 60°S from three complete circumpolar sets of surveys. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 9, 253–262.

- Branch, T.A., Butterworth, D.S., 2001. Estimates of abundance south of 60°S for cetacean species sighted frequently on the 1978/79 to 1997/98 IWC/IDCR-SOWER sighting surveys. J. Cetacean Res. Manage. Spec. Issue 3, 251–270.
- Branch, T.A., Rademeyer, R.A., 2003. Blue whale estimates from the IDCR-SOWER surveys: updated comparisons including results from the 1998/99 to 2000/2001 surveys. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 5, 291–292.
- Cai, W., Avery, S.K., Leinen, M., Lee, K., Lin, X., Visbeck, M., 2015. Institutional coordination of global ocean observations. Nat. Clim. Chang. 5, 4–6.
- CCAMLR, 2015a. Report of the Thirty-Fourth Meeting of the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR XXXIV). CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia.
- CCAMLR, 2015b. Statistical Bulletin. Vols. 27 (2005-2014). CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia. Constable, AJ., 2001. The ecosystem approach to managing fisheries: achieving conservation objectives for predators of fished species. CCAMLR Sci. 8, 37–64.
- Constable, A.J., 2011. Lessons from CCAMLR on the implementation of the ecosystem approach to managing fisheries. Fish Fish. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2011. 00410.x.
- Constable, A.J., Doust, S., 2009. Southern Ocean Sentinel an International Program to Asses Climate Change Impacts on Marine Ecosystems: Report of an International Workshop, Hobart, April 2009. ACE CRC, Commonwealth of Australia & WWF-Australia.
- Constable, A.J., de la Mare, W.K., Agnew, D.J., Everson, I., Miller, D., 2000. Managing fisheries to conserve the Antarctic marine ecosystem: practical implementation of the Convention on the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR). ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57, 778–791.
- Constable, A.J., Melbourne-Thomas, J., Corney, S.P., Arrigo, K.R., Barbraud, C., Barnes, D.K.A., Bindoff, N.L., Boyd, P.W., Brandt, A., Costa, D.P., Davidson, A.T., Ducklow, H.W., Emmerson, L., Fukuchi, M., Gutt, J., Hindell, M.A., Hofmann, E.E., Hosie, G.W., lida, T., Jacob, S., Johnston, N.M., Kawaguchi, S., Kokubun, N., Koubbi, P., Lea, M.-A., Makhado, A., Massom, R.A., Meiners, K., Meredith, M.P., Murphy, E.J., Nicol, S., Reid, K., Richerson, K., Riddle, M.J., Rintoul, S.R., Smith, W.O., Southwell, C., Stark, J.S., Sumner, M., Swadling, K.M., Takahashi, K.T., Trathan, P.N., Welsford, D.C., Weimerskirch, H., Westwood, K.J., Wienecke, B.C., Wolf-Gladrow, D., Wright, S.W., Xavier, J.C., Ziegler, P., 2014. Climate change and Southern Ocean ecosystems 1: how changes in physical habitats directly affect marine biota. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 3004–3025.
- Costa, D.P., Klinck, J.M., Hofmann, E.E., Dinniman, M.S., Burns, J.M., 2008. Upper ocean variability in west Antarctic Peninsula continental shelf waters as measured using instrumented seals. Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 55, 323–337.
- Costa, D.P., Huckstadt, L., Crocker, D., McDonald, B., Goebel, M., Fedak, M., 2010. Approaches to studying climate change and its role on the habitat selection of Antarctic pinnipeds. Integr. Comp. Biol. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/icb/icq1054.
- De Broyer, C., Danis, B., Allcock, L., Angel, M., Arango, C., Artois, T., Barnes, D., Bartsch, I., Bester, M., Blachowiak-Samolyk, K., Blazewicz, M., Bohn, J., Brandt, A., Brandao, S.N., David, B., de Salas, M., Eleaume, M., Emig, C., Fautin, D., George, K.H., Gillan, D., Gooday, A., Hopcroft, R., Jangoux, M., Janussen, D., Koubbi, P., Kouwenberg, J., Kuklinski, P., Ligowski, R., Lindsay, D., Linse, K., Longshaw, M., Lopez-Gonzalez, P., Martin, P., Munilla, T., Muhlenhardt-Siegel, U., Neuhaus, B., Norenburg, J., Ozouf-Costaz, C., Pakhomov, E., Perrin, W., Petryashov, V., Pena-Cantero, A.L., Piatkowski, U., Pierrot-Bults, A., Rocka, A., Saiz-Salinas, J., Salvini-Plawen, L., Scarabino, V., Schiaparelli, S., Schrodl, M., Schwabe, E., Scott, F., Sicinski, J., Siegel, V., Smirnov, I., Thatje, S., Utevsky, A., Vanreusel, A., Wiencke, C., Woehler, E., Zdzitowiecki, K., Zeidler, W., Editors, S.-M.T., 2011. How many species in the Southern Ocean? Towards a dynamic inventory of the Antarctic marine species. Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 58, 5–17.
- De Broyer, C., Koubbi, P., Griffiths, H., Raymond, B., d'Udekem d'Acoz, C., Van de Putte, A., Danis, B., David, B., Grant, S., Gutt, J., Held, C., Hosie, G., Huettmann, F., Post, A., Ropert-Coudert, Y., 2014. Biogeographic Atlas of the Southern Ocean. Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research, Cambridge UK.
- de la Mare, W.K., Constable, A.J., 2000. Utilising data from ecosystem monitoring for managing fisheries: development of statistical summaries of indices arising from the CCAMLR Ecosystem Monitoring Program. CCAMLR Sci. 7, 101–117.
- Dong, S., Sprintall, J., Gille, S.T., Talley, L., 2008. Southern Ocean mixed-layer depth from Argo float profiles. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 113, C06013.
- Ducklow, H., Fraser, W., Meredith, M., Stammerjohn, S., Doney, S., Martinson, D., Sailley, S., Schofield, O., Steinberg, D., Venables, H., Amsler, C., 2013. West Antarctic Peninsula: an ice-dependent coastal marine ecosystem in transition. Oceanography 26, 190–203.
- El-Sayed, S.Z., 1994. Southern Ocean Ecology: The BIOMASS Perspective. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Fretwell, P.T., Trathan, P.N., 2009. Penguins from space: faecal stains reveal the locations of emperor penguin colonies. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 18, 543–552.
- Fulton, E., Link, J., 2014. Modeling approaches for marine ecosystem-based management. In: Fogarty, M., McCarthy, J. (Eds.), The Sea, Volume 16: Marine Ecosystem-Based Management. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA (pp.??-??).
- Fulton, E.A., Smith, A.D.M., Punt, A.E., 2005. Which ecological indicators can robustly detect effects of fishing? ICES J. Mar. Sci. 62, 540–551.
- Fulton, E.A., Smith, A.D.M., Smith, D.C., Johnson, P., 2014. An integrated approach is needed for ecosystem based fisheries management: insights from ecosystem-level management strategy evaluation. PLoS One 9, e84242.
- Garcia, S.M., Staples, D., 2000. Sustainability reference systems and indicators for responsible marine capture fisheries: a review of concepts and elements for a set of guidelines. Mar. Freshw. Res. 51, 385–426.
- Gutt, J., Bertler, N., Bracegirdle, T.J., Buschmann, A., Comiso, J., Hosie, G., Isla, E., Schloss, I.R., Smith, C.R., Tournadre, J., Xavier, J.C., 2015. The Southern Ocean ecosystem under multiple climate change stresses — an integrated circumpolar assessment. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 1434–1453.

- Hayes, K.R., Dambacher, J.M., Hosack, G.R., Bax, N.J., Dunstan, P.K., Fulton, E.A., Thompson, P.A., Hartog, J.R., Hobday, A.J., Bradford, R., Foster, S.D., Hedge, P., Smith, D.C., Marshall, C.J., 2015. Identifying indicators and essential variables for marine ecosystems. Ecol. Indic. 57, 409–419.
- Henson, S.A., Beaulieu, C., Lampitt, R., 2016. Observing climate change trends in ocean biogeochemistry: when and where. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 1561–1571.
- Hill, S.L., Keeble, K., Atkinson, A., Murphy, E.J., 2012. A foodweb model to explore uncertainties in the South Georgia shelf pelagic ecosystem. Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 59, 237–252.
- Hill, S.L., Phillips, T., Atkinson, A., 2013. Potential climate change effects on the habitat of Antarctic krill in the Weddell quadrant of the Southern Ocean. PLoS One 8 (8), e72246.
- Hindell, M.A., Bradshaw, C.J.A., Harcourt, R., Guinet, C., 2003. Ecosystem monitoring: are seals a potential tool for monitoring change in marine systems? In: Gales, N.J., Hindell, M.A., Kirkwood, R. (Eds.), Marine Mammals. Fisheries, Tourism and Management Issues. CSIRO Publishing, Melbourne
- Hood, M., 2009. Ship-based Repeat Hydrography: A Strategy for a Sustained Global Programme. (IOC Technical Series, 89. IOCCP Reports, 17. ICPO Publication 142.). UNESCO, Paris, France.
- Hosie, G.W., Fukuchi, M., Kawaguchi, S., 2003. Development of the Southern Ocean Continuous Plankton Recorder survey. Prog. Oceanogr. 58, 263–283.
- Hosie, G., Mormède, S., Kitchener, J., Takahashi, K., Raymond, B., 2014. Near-surface zooplankton communities. In: de Broyer, C., Koubbi, P.K., Griffiths, H.J., Raymond, B., d'Udekem d'Acoz, C., Van de Putte, A., Danis, B., David, B., Grant, S., Gutt, J., Held, C., Hosie, G., Huettmann, F., Post, A., Ropert-Coudert, Y. (Eds.), Biogeographic Atlas of the Southern Ocean. Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research, Cambridge UK, pp. 322–430.
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- IPCC, 2014. Summary for policymakers. In: Field, C.B., Barros, V.R., Dokken, D.J., Mach, K.J., Mastrandrea, M.D., Bilir, T.E., Chatterjee, M., Ebi, K.L., Estrada, Y.O., Genova, R.C., Girma, B., Kissel, E.S., Levy, A.N., MacCracken, S., Mastrandrea, P.R., White, L.L. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom, and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1–32.
- Jennings, S., 2005. Indicators to support an ecosystem approach to fisheries. Fish Fish. 6, 212–232.
- Johnson, R., Strutton, P.G., Wright, S.W., McMinn, A., Meiners, K.M., 2013. Three improved satellite chlorophyll algorithms for the Southern Ocean. J. Geophys. Res. Oceans 118, 3694–3703.
- Kahl, A., Fraser, W., Schofield, O., 2010. Autonomous gliders reveal water column features associated with Adélie penguin foraging. Integr. Comp. Biol.
- Kaufman, D.E., Friedrichs, M.A.M., Smith Jr., W.O., Queste, B.Y., Heywood, K.J., 2014. Biogeochemical variability in the southern Ross Sea as observed by a glider deployment. Deep-Sea Res. I 92, 93–106.
- Kavanaugh, M., Abdala, F., Ducklow, H., Glover, D., Fraser, W., Martinson, D., Stammerjohn, S., Schofield, O., Doney, S., 2015. Effect of continental shelf canyons on phytoplankton biomass and community composition along the western Antarctic Peninsula. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 524, 11–26.
- Kawaguchi, S., Candy, S.G., King, R., Naganobu, M., Nicol, S., 2006. Modelling growth of Antarctic krill. I. Growth trends with sex, length, season, and region. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 306, 1–15.
- Kennicutt II, M., Chown, S., Cassano, J., Liggett, D., Massom, R., Peck, L., Rintoul, S., Storey, J., Vaughan, D., Wilson, T., Sutherland, W., 2014. Six priorities for Antarctic science. Nature 512, 23–25.
- Kikuchi, T., Inoue, J., Langevin, D., 2007. Argo-type profiling observations under the Arctic multiyear ice. Deep-Sea Res. I 54, 1675–1686.
- Kock, K.-H., Barrera-Oro, E., Belchier, M., Collins, M.A., Duhamel, G., Hanchet, S., Pshenichnov, L., Welsford, D., Williams, R., 2012. The role of fish as predators of krill (*Euphausia superba*) and other pelagic resources in the Southern Ocean (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 19, 115–169.
- Leaper, R., Miller, C., 2011. Management of Antarctic baleen whales amid past exploitation, current threats and complex marine ecosystems. Antarct. Sci. 23, 503–529.
- Lindstrom, E., Gunn, J., Fischer, A., McCurdy, A., Glover, L.K., 2012. A Framework for Ocean Observing: Prepared by the Task Team for an Integrated Framework for Sustained Ocean Observing (IFSOO). (Report IOC/INF-1284 Rev.). UNESCO, Paris, p. 28.
- Lynch, H.J., Naveen, R., Trathan, P.N., Fagan, W.F., 2012. Spatially integrated assessment reveals widespread changes in penguin populations on the Antarctic Peninsula. Ecology 93, 1367–1377.
- Masutani, M., Schlatter, T.W., Errico, R.M., Stoffelen, A., Andersson, E., Lahoz, W., Woollen, J.S., Emmitt, G.D., Riishøjgaard, L.-P., Lord, S.J., 2010. Observing system simulation experiments. In: Lahoz, W., Khattatov, B., Menard, R. (Eds.), Data Assimilation: Making Sense of Observations. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 647–679.
- Meiners, K.M., Vancoppenolle, M., Thanassekos, S., Dieckmann, G.S., Thomas, D.N., Tison, J.L., Arrigo, K.R., Garrison, D.L., McMinn, A., Lannuzel, D., van der Merwe, P., Swadling, K.M., Smith Jr., W.O., Melnikov, I., Raymond, B., 2012. Chlorophyll *a* in Antarctic sea ice from historical ice core data. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39, L21602.
- Melbourne-Thomas, J., Constable, A., Wotherspoon, S., Raymond, B., 2013. Testing paradigms of ecosystem change under climate warming in Antarctica. PLoS One 8, e55093.
- Meredith, M.P., Schofield, O., Newman, L., Urban, E., Sparrow, M., 2013. The vision for a Southern Ocean Observing System. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 5, 306–313.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis. World Resources Institute, Washington DC, USA.

Murphy, E.J., Hofmann, E.E., 2012. End-to-end in Southern Ocean ecosystems. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 4, 264–271.

- Murphy, E.J., Cavanagh, R.D., Hofmann, E.E., Hill, S.L., Constable, A.J., Costa, D.P., Pinkerton, M.H., Johnston, N.M., Trathan, P.N., Klinck, J.M., Wolf-Gladrow, D.A., Daly, K.L., Maury, O., Doney, S.C., 2012. Developing integrated models of Southern Ocean food webs: including ecological complexity, accounting for uncertainty and the importance of scale. Prog. Oceanogr. 102, 74–92.
- Murphy, E.J., Hofman, E.E., Watkins, J.L., Johnston, N.M., Pinones, A., Ballerini, T., Hill, S.L., Trathan, P.N., Tarling, G.A., Cavanagh, R.A., Young, E.F., Thorpe, S.E., Fretwell, P., 2013. Comparison of the structure and function of Southern Ocean regional ecosystems: the Antarctic Peninsula and South Georgia. J. Mar. Syst. 109, 22–42. Nymand Larson, J., Anisimov, O., Constable, A.J., Hollowed, A., Maynard, N., Prestrud, P.,
- Nymand Larson, J., Anisimov, O., Constable, A.J., Hollowed, A., Maynard, N., Prestrud, P., Prowse, T., Stone, J., 2014. Chapter 28: polar regions. In: Field, C.B., Barros, R.B. (Eds.), Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Report of Working Group II. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, San Francisco (71 pp.).
- Perry, R.I., Livingston, P., Fulton, E.A., 2010. Ecosystem indicators. In: Jamieson, G., Livingston, P., Zhang, C.-I. (Eds.), Report of Working Group 19 on Ecosystem-based Management Science and its Application to the North PacificPICES Scientific Report No. 37. North Pacific Marine Science Organization (PICES), Sidney, BC, Canada, pp. 83–89.
- Peters, R.H., 1991. A Critique for Ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pinkerton, M.H., Bradford-Grieve, J.M., Hanchet, S.M., 2010. A balanced model of the food web of the Ross Sea, Antarctica. CCAMLR Sci. 17, 1–31.
- Ratcliffe, N., Trathan, P., 2011. A review of the diet and at-sea distribution of penguins breeding within the CAMLR Convention Area (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 18, 75–114.
- Raymond, B., Marshall, M., Nevitt, G., Gillies, C.L., van den Hoff, J., Stark, J.S., Losekoot, M., Woehler, E.J., Constable, A.J., 2011. A Southern Ocean dietary database. Ecology 92, 1188.
- Raymond, B., Lea, M.-A., Patterson, T., Andrews-Goff, V., Sharples, R., Charrassin, J.-B., Cottin, M., Emmerson, L., Gales, N., Gales, R., Goldsworthy, S., Harcourt, R., Kato, A., Kirkwood, R., Lawton, K., Ropert-Coudert, Y., Southwell, C., van den Hoff, J., Wienecke, B., Woehler, E.J., Wotherspoon, S., Hindell, M.A., 2014. Important marine habitat off East Antarctica revealed by two decades of multi-species predator tracking. Ecography 38, 121–129.
- Rice, J.C., Rochet, M., 2005. A framework for selecting a suite of indicators for fisheries management. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 62, 516–527.
- Rintoul, S., Sparrow, M., Meredith, M., Wadley, V., Speer, K., Hofmann, E., Summerhayes, C., Urban, E., Bellerby, R., 2011. The Southern Ocean Observing System: Initial Science and Implementation Strategy. SCAR-SCOR, Cambridge, UK.
- Rogers, A., Johnston, N., Murphy, E., Clarke, A., 2012. Antarctic Ecosystems: An Extreme Environment in a Changing World. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Roquet, F., Williams, G., Hindell, M.A., Harcourt, R., McMahon, C., Guinet, C., Charrassin, J.-B., Reverdin, G., Boehme, L., Lovell, P., Fedak, M., 2014. A Southern Indian Ocean database of hydrographic profiles obtained with instrumented elephant seals. Sci. Data 1, 140028. SC-CAMLR, 2008. Report of the Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop. Annex 12, Report of the
- Twenty-Seventh Meeting of the Scientific Committee. CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia.
- SC-CAMLR, 2011. Report of the Thirtieth Meeting of the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR XXX), Annex 4, Report of the Working Group on Ecosystem Monitoring and Management. CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia.

- SC-CAMLR, 2015a. Report of the Thirty-Fourth Meeting of the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR XXXIV). CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia.
- SC-CAMLR, 2015b. Report of the Thirty-Fourth Meeting of the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR XXXIV), Annex 4, Report of the Working Group on Ecosystem Monitoring and Management. CCAMLR, Hobart, Australia.
- Schofield, O., Ducklow, H., Bernard, K., Doney, S., Fraser-Patterson, D., Gorman, K., Martinson, D., Meredith, M., Saba, G., Stammerjohn, S., Steinberg, D., Fraser, W., 2013. Penguin biogeography along the West Antarctic Peninsula: testing the canyon hypothesis with Palmer LTER observations. Oceanography 26, 78–80.
- Shin, Y.-J., Shannon, L.J., 2010. Using indicators for evaluating, comparing and communicating the ecological status of exploited marine ecosystems. 1. The IndiSeas project. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 67, 686–691.
- Siedler, G., Church, J., Gould, J., 2001. Ocean Circulation and Climate: Observing and Modelling the Global Ocean. Academic Press, London, UK.
- Southwell, C., Bengtson, J., Bester, M., Blix, A.S., Bornemann, H., Boveng, P., Cameron, M., Forcada, J., Laake, J., Nordøy, E., Plötz, J., Rogers, T., Southwell, D., Steinhage, D., Stewart, B.S., Trathan, P., 2012. A review of data on abundance, trends in abundance, habitat use and diet of ice-breeding seals in the Southern Ocean (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 19, 49–74.
- Southwell, C., Emmerson, L., McKinlay, J., Newbery, K., Takahashi, A., Kato, A., Barbraud, C., DeLord, K., Weimerskirch, H., 2015. Spatially extensive standardized surveys reveal widespread, multi-decadal increase in East Antarctic Adélie penguin populations. PLoS One 10, e0139877.
- Stammerjohn, S., Martinson, D., Smith, R., Yuan, X., Rind, D., 2008. Trends in Antarctic annual sea ice retreat and advance and their relation to El Nino–Southern Oscillation and Southern Annular Mode variability. J. Geophys. Res. 113, CO3S90.
- Strutton, P.G., Lovenduski, N.S., Mongin, M., Matear, R., 2012. Quantification of Southern Ocean phytoplankton biomass and primary productivity via satellite observations and biogeochemical models (submitted to the 2008 Joint CCAMLR-IWC Workshop). CCAMLR Sci. 19, 247–265.
- Tin, T., Fleming, Z.L., Hughes, K.A., Ainley, D.G., Convey, P., Moreno, C.A., Pfeiffer, S., Scott, J., Snape, I., 2009. Impacts of local human activities on the Antarctic environment. Antarct. Sci. 21, 3–33.
- Turner, J., Bindschadler, R., Convey, P., di Prisco, G., Fahrbach, E., Gutt, J., Hodgson, D., Mayewski, P., Summerhayes, C., 2009. Antarctic Climate Change and the Environment. SCAR, Cambridge UK, p. 526.
- Turner, J.A., Barrand, N.E., Bracegirdle, T.J., Convey, P., Hodgson, D.A., Jarvis, M., Jenkins, A., Marshall, G., Meredith, M.P., Roscos, H., Shanklin, J., French, J., Goosse, H., Guglielmin, M., Gutt, J., Jacobs, S., Kennicutt, M.C., Masson-Delmotte, V., Mayewski, P., Navarro, F., Robinson, S., Scambos, T., Sparrow, M., Summerhayes, C., Speer, K., Klepnikov, A., 2013. Antarctic climate change and the environment: an update. Polar Rec. 1–23.
- UN, 2016. The First Global Integrated Marine Assessment: World Ocean Assessment I. United Nations, New York.
- Watkins, J.L., Hewitt, R., Naganobu, M., Sushin, V., 2004. The CCAMLR 2000 Survey: a multinational, multi-ship biological oceanography survey of the Atlantic sector of the Southern Ocean. Deep-Sea Res. II 51, 1205–1213.
- Zerbini, A., Clapham, P., Wade, P., 2010. Assessing plausible rates of population growth in humpback whales from life-history data. Mar. Biol. 157, 1225–1236 (DOI: 1210.1007/ s00227-00010-01403-y).